IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 22-ICA-163

ICA EFiled: Jan 18 2023

01:08AM EST

Transaction ID 68912376

HANK HECKMAN and LOREN GARCIA, Petitioners,

(An appeal of the final orders of Kanawha County Circuit Court,

Case Nos. 21-C-903 and 904)

v.

JEFF SANDY, BETSY JIVIDEN, and PATRICK MORRISEY, Respondents.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Counsel for the Petitioners, Hank Heckman and Loren Garcia.

Jeremy B. Cooper WV State Bar ID 12319 Blackwater Law PLLC 6 Loop St. #1 Aspinwall, PA 15215 Tel: (304) 376-0037 Fax: (681) 245-6308 jeremy@blackwaterlawpllc.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Circuit Court erred by granting the respective motions to dismiss of Respondent Morrisey, and Respondents Jividen and Sandy on the following grounds:

- The constitutional rights that the Respondents were alleged to have violated in the Complaint were clearly established at the time of the violations, and it was error to find the Respondents to be entitled to qualified immunity based on a finding that said legal principles were not clearly established.
- 2. It was error to determine that the Respondents were entitled to statutory absolute immunity from the Petitioners' federal causes of action pursuant to W. Va. Code § 15A-4-17(p), based upon the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution.
- 3. It was error to determine that the Respondents were entitled to statutory absolute immunity on all causes of action pursuant to W. Va. Code § 15A-4-17(p), based upon the statute's violation of the principles of Article III, Section 17 of the West Virginia Constitution.
- 4. It was error to withhold relief on the Petitioners' declaratory judgment claim concerning the constitutionality of W. Va. Code § 15A-4-17(p), which is not subject to the same immunity challenges as claims for monetary damages, and the dismissal of which was not justified on any other basis in the orders on appeal.
- 5. It was error to determine that Respondent Morrisey was entitled to absolute prosecutorial immunity from the allegations in the Complaint, to the extent that the allegations in the Complaint concerned Respondent Morrisey's role in

- crafting and executing the policies in question, rather than to his role as an advocate of the policies in a judicial proceeding.
- 6. It was error to determine that Respondents Jividen and Sandy were entitled to absolute immunity on the basis of administrative policy-making.
- 7. It was error to determine that the Respondents were not amenable to claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 on the theory that the Respondents are not "persons" under that statute.
- 8. It was error to determine that Respondent Morrisey was immune from suit based upon a theory of sovereign immunity.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The circumstances underlying this case have previously been presented to the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia, in the context of an original jurisdiction habeas matter that resulted in a signed opinion granting the writ in *State ex rel. Phalen v. Roberts*, 858 S.E.2d 936 (W. Va. 2021). The petitioner in that case was Scott Phalen, who was a person similarly-situated to the two Petitioners in this case and plaintiffs below, Hank Heckman and Loren Garcia. As discussed in the Complaint (A.R., at 5-37) that initiated the proceedings now on appeal, Mr. Phalen, Petitioner Heckman, Petitioner Garcia, and a class of other unknown individuals were all re-arrested after having been paroled off of periods of incarceration judicially imposed following the revocation of their supervised release under W. Va. Code § 62-12-26. These arrests stemmed not from any allegations of wrongdoing, nor from any court action, but instead from an apparent decision within the Division of Corrections and Rehabilitation to retroactively modify eligibility for parole and good time for persons who had been revoked from supervised release.

Justice Hutchison, writing for the majority in *Phalen*, set forth the following factual background, as it related to Mr. Phalen:

West Virginia law provides that any inmate may be paroled after serving one-fourth of a definite term sentence. W. Va. Code § 62-12-13(b)(1)(A) [2021]. After serving one-fourth of his ten-year definite term sentence for violating conditions of his supervised release, Petitioner Scott Phalen was released on parole. However, he was arrested and reincarcerated six months later because the Division of Corrections and Rehabilitation ("DOCR") determined that he had been released in error based upon an internal policy that inmates who are incarcerated for violating the conditions of their supervised release are neither eligible for parole pursuant to West Virginia Code § 62-12-13 nor entitled to receive commutation from their sentences for good conduct (also referred to as "good time") pursuant to West Virginia Code § 15A-4-17. Petitioner seeks an original jurisdiction writ of habeas corpus to direct Respondent Craig Roberts, Superintendent, South Central Regional Jail, to restore him to parole.

Phalen, at 938.

In 2011, petitioner was indicted by a Kanawha County Grand Jury on the offenses of first-degree sexual assault, first-degree sexual abuse, sexual abuse by a parent, and incest. The indictment alleged that petitioner's crimes occurred "on or about December 20, 2010." He pled guilty to one count of first-degree sexual abuse, and, on February 14, 2012, he was sentenced to one to five years in prison, pursuant to West Virginia Code § 61-8B-7 [2006] (the first-degree sexual abuse statute) followed by fifteen years of extended supervised release, pursuant to West Virginia Code § 62-12-26(a). See Syl. Pt. 11, in part, State v. James, 227 W. Va. 407, 710 S.E.2d 98 (2011) ("The imposition of the legislatively mandated additional punishment of a period of supervised release [is] an inherent part of the sentencing scheme for certain offenses enumerated in West Virginia Code § 62-12-26."). Petitioner discharged his prison sentence on December 2, 2013, and then commenced the period of supervised release. See W. Va. Code § 62-12-26(d) ("The period of supervised release imposed by the provisions of this section shall begin upon the expiration of any period of probation, the expiration of any sentence of incarceration or the expiration of any period of parole supervision imposed or required of the person so convicted, whichever expires later.").

West Virginia Code § 62-12-26(h)(3) provides that if a circuit court "finds by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant violated a condition of supervised release," then the circuit court may revoke the defendant's release and "require the defendant to serve in prison all or part of the term of supervised release." The circuit court found that petitioner violated the conditions of his supervised release in 2014, for which he was sentenced to five years in prison. After being released to complete the period of supervised release, petitioner again violated the conditions of his supervised release and so, on June 9, 2017, the court ordered that petitioner "be sentenced to confinement ... for a determinate term of ten (10) years" for the violation.

West Virginia Code § 62-12-13(b)(1)(A) [2021] provides that "[a]ny inmate of a state correctional institution is eligible for parole if he or she ... has served one fourth of his or her definite term sentence[.]" After serving one fourth of his definite ten-year term, petitioner appeared before the Parole Board, which determined that petitioner should be released on parole. Petitioner was released on parole on June 29, 2020.

In November of 2020, five months after petitioner's release on parole, the DOCR created new internal policy directives establishing that, among others, "sex offenders and child/abuse neglect offenders" are neither eligible for parole nor shall receive day-for-day good time for incarceration imposed for revocation of supervised release. On December 7, 2020, the DOCR issued a warrant for petitioner's arrest because, pursuant to this new DOCR policy, petitioner had been released from custody on June 29, 2020, due to a "clerical error" or "mistake." See W. Va. Code § 62-8-8(a) [2007] (authorizing the issuance of "an order of arrest for inmates who have been released from the custody of the [now DOCR] due to[,] [inter alia,] a clerical error[] [or] mistake").

On December 23, 2020, petitioner filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus with this Court seeking reinstatement to parole. Following the filing of respondent's summary response to the petition, we issued a rule to show cause and scheduled oral argument for April 14, 2021.

While this case was pending, during the 2021 Legislative session, Senate Bill 713 ("S.B. 713") was introduced to amend the good time statute, West Virginia Code § 15A-4-17, in relevant part, to exclude inmates committed, pursuant to West Virginia Code § 62-

12-26, for violating the conditions of their supervised release from being granted good time except that "an inmate who had good time calculated into his or her release prior to October 21, 2020," is entitled to the good time awarded or earned. See W. Va. Code § 15A-4-17(a) [2021].

Senate Bill 713 was passed by the Legislature on April 7, 2021, and approved by the Governor twelve days later. The Legislature made S.B. 713 effective on April 30, 2021. In light of this new legislation, which respondent states is simply a codification of the DOCR's "stance" in Policy Directive 151.06, this Court directed the parties to file supplemental briefs addressing the impact of S.B. 713 on the issues raised in petitioner's habeas petition.

Phalen, 939-41 (footnotes omitted).

Following oral argument and supplemental briefing, the Supreme Court granted Mr. Phalen's requested writ, as moulded, and held that the change in policy could only be applied to persons whose *underlying crimes* transpired prior to the effective date of S.B. 713 (i.e. April 30, 2021). Petitioner Garcia and Petitioner Heckman also filed original jurisdiction habeas petitions, in Docket Nos. 20-1021, and 21-0341, respectively. Petitioner Garcia's petition was ultimately mooted when, prior to S.B. 713's effective date, the DOCR recalculated her time sheet based on the provisions of that statute, and released her on the eve of oral argument. Petitioner Heckman's petition was mooted following the release of the *Phalen* decision, as a result of which the DOCR released Petitioner Heckman prior to the Supreme Court making a decision on the merits of his petition. In October of 2021, the civil action that is now on appeal was initiated with the filing of a Complaint, which sought relief based on a number of causes of action for Petitioner Heckman and Petitioner Garcia, as well as a group of similarly-situated persons that included Mr. Phalen in addition to a number of other unknown people who had been adversely affected.

The Complaint named as defendants Betsy Jividen, in her individual capacity, and in

her capacity as the Commissioner of the Division of Corrections and Rehabilitation; Jeff Sandy, in his personal capacity and in his individual capacity as the Secretary of the West Virginia Department of Homeland Security; and Patrick Morrisey, in his individual capacity and in his official capacity as the Attorney General. (A.R., at 7). The Complaint first sought declaratory judgment and/or injunctive relief concerning a provision of S.B. 713 that purported to grant absolute immunity to the DOCR and related entities for the events complained of in the Complaint, W. Va. Code § 15A-4-17(p). (A.R., at 18-23). The causes of action for money damages asserted in the Complaint all revolved around the arrest and incarceration of the Petitioners following the retroactive policy change. Those causes of action were a federal Civil RICO claim; state law intentional tort claims for assault and battery, false imprisonment, abuse of process, and malicious prosecution; federal civil rights claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for violations of the Fourth, Fifth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments and the Ex Post Facto clause of the United States Constitution; a state constitutional tort claim for a violation of the takings clause; and state law claims for violation of statute, and civil conspiracy. (A.R., at 18-36).

The Complaint alleged that Petitioner Heckman was indicted by the Taylor County

Grand Jury in 2010 for sexual offenses in case number 10-F-51 and, in accordance with a plea
agreement, was committed as a youthful offender, following which he was placed on three
years of supervised probation and 10 years of extended supervised release pursuant to W. Va.

Code § 62-12-26. Petitioner Heckman subsequently violated probation and was ultimately
reincarcerated and discharged the remainder of his custodial sentence. Petitioner Heckman
began his 10 year term of extended supervised release upon discharge of his sentence. His
supervised release was revoked, and he was ordered to serve all ten years of his period of

supervised release in prison, with no credit for time served on supervised release, with an effective sentencing date of July 20, 2017. On or about June 11, 2020, Petitioner Heckman was released to parole, following the expiry of one fourth of his ten year period of incarceration imposed as a result of the revocation of his supervised release. (A.R., at 9).

The Complaint further alleged that Ms. Garcia was indicted by the Randolph County Grand Jury in 2013, on three felony charges: child abuse resulting in bodily injury, conspiracy, and child neglect resulting in bodily injury, in case number 13-F-71. Via plea agreement, she pleaded guilty to one count of child neglect resulting in bodily injury, and was sentenced to 1-3 years of incarceration, followed by 10 years of extended supervised release pursuant to W. Va. Code § 62-12-26. Petitioner Garcia, while on supervised release, was accused of and indicted for participating in a robbery in Harrison County. As a result, she pleaded guilty in Harrison County case number 16-F-200 to one count of First Degree Robbery, and was sentenced to a determinate sentence of ten years. A motion to revoke Petitioner Garcia's supervised release was granted in Randolph County, with the Petitioner being ordered to serve three years of her supervised release as a period of incarceration, with an additional thirty year period of supervised release being imposed thereafter. Petitioner Garcia began serving these terms of incarceration, which were ordered to run consecutively, on April 12, 2016. On December 5, 2019, Petitioner Garcia was released to parole, after having served in excess of one fourth of the 13 total years of her consecutive sentences. (A.R., at 9-10).

By way of factual background, the Complaint alleged that following the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic, inmates working in Prison Industries, while in the custody of the DOCR, came up with the idea of making masks as a way of "giving back" to the community. "Clean teams" were formed at each facility to assist with the enhanced cleaning and sanitation

necessary to combat Covid-19 introduction and spread in DOCR facilities. The efforts of these "clean teams" contributed significantly to the DOCR's efforts to combat and reduce the spread of the virus. In recognition of the exemplary work of these inmates, it was alleged that Respondent Jividen requested each Superintendent of DOCR facilities to nominate inmates who performed exemplary service related to Covid-19 efforts for an award of meritorious "good time" pursuant to W. Va. Code Section 15A-4-17(i) (2018). (A.R., at 10).

The Complaint asserted that an inmate named Joshua Miller was included in the submission of names from Denmar Correctional Center and Jail, and was recommended to receive 120 days of meritorious "good time" for his efforts in the manufacturing of masks and gowns. Upon receipt of the recommendation, Respondent Jividen's office notified Joshua Miller that he was recommended to receive a meritorious "good time" award for his efforts and that a new time sheet reflecting the same would be forthcoming. (A.R., at 10-11).

The Complaint claimed that as time sheets were being reviewed and calculated for the nominated inmates, an unknown individual or individuals within the DOCR determined that certain recommended inmates were not eligible for the award of "good time." On or before August 7, 2020, Respondent Jividen placed the "good time" award program under review. The Complaint alleged that Respondent Sandy was involved in the decision-making process to put the "good time" award program under review. (A.R., at 11).

At the time this review was taking place, the Complaint alleged that eligibility for good time was governed by DOCR Policy Directive 151.02, which did not limit good time eligibility for persons whose supervised release had been revoked. On or about October of 2020, the DOCR adopted a new policy whereby persons who had been revoked from supervised release pursuant to W.Va. Code Section 62-12-26 were ineligible for both parole and for good time.

Policy Directive 151.06, which purported to remove good time eligibility for inmates who had been revoked from supervised probation, was implemented on November 23, 2020. No written policy directive regarding parole eligibility was issued. (A.R., at 11).

The Complaint stated that on or about December 7, 2020, Respondent Jividen signed a series of warrants, alleging a "clerical error or mistake" as the reason for arrest. This series of warrants included warrants for both Petitioner Heckman, and for Petitioner Garcia, in addition to Mr. Phalen, as discussed above, and other, unknown persons. Respondent Jividen was alleged to have sent a letter on December 8, 2020 to Judge Alan Moats, to inform the latter that Petitioner Heckman was released on June 11, 2020 – a date which was calculated using day-for-day good time credit, which the Division of Corrections has "since determined is not appropriate for sex offenders serving time for a violation of their supervised releases." (A.R., at 11-12).

This letter was appended to the Complaint. (A.R., at 37). The letter from Respondent Jividen stated that Petitioner Heckman would not be eligible to be readmitted to parole, and that since Petitioner Heckman was on parole and being supervised by a parole officer employed by the DOCR, that he was "still subject" to the authority of the DOCR and was thus being re-incarcerated to serve the remainder of his sentence. (A.R., at 12).

The Complaint asserted that although no violation of the terms of parole was alleged against Petitioner Heckman, Mr. Phalen, or Petitioner Garcia, that these individuals were all arrested on December 7 and 8, 2020 by personnel from the Division of Corrections and Rehabilitation. The Complaint asserted that the individuals who arrested these three, in addition to arresting the other unknown, similarly situated individuals, were acting under the purported authority of Respondent Jividen, who had issued warrants in their respective names

based upon a "clerical error or mistake." (A.R., at 12-13).

The Complaint further alleged that Respondent Morrisey defended the DOCR's new good time and parole eligibility policies on the merits. It was asserted that Respondent Morrisey could have recommended, but did not, that the policies were unconstitutional, and that the Petitioners, and members of a class of similarly situated persons, were being held unlawfully.

The Complaint asserted that on or about March 25, 2021, S.B. 713 (2021) was introduced in the West Virginia Senate, after having been authored by personnel of the Department of Homeland Security and/or the DOCR, and introduced directly to the Senate Judiciary Committee. The Complaint alleged upon information and belief that Respondent Sandy was involved in the process of drafting S.B. 713. (A.R., at 13-14).

The Complaint asserted that Department of Homeland Security Deputy General Counsel, Stacy Nowicki, an agent of Respondent Sandy, testified before the Senate Judiciary Committee on March 24, 2021 regarding the reasoning for S.B. 713, and stated: "Because of that change, the Division basically removed the good time because they did not feel that it was appropriate to have awarded the good time. Then obviously, lots of lawsuits happened at that point. Parolees, people that had been released from these violations were scooped back up off the street by the Division, excuse the terminology, but they were brought back into custody, and they have also sued us for bringing them back in and inconsistent policy statements, and that's where we are, so." (A.R., at 14).

The Complaint alleged that the lawsuits to which Ms. Nowicki referred included, but may or may not have been limited to, two original jurisdiction mandamus petitions filed by Joshua Miller (Docket No. 20-0628) and Dominic Davis (Docket No. 20-0981), and the two

habeas corpus petitions, from Petitioner Garcia and Mr. Phalen, all of which were later argued before the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia on April 14, 2021. The Complaint asserted that the purported effect of S.B. 713 was to codify the DOCR's new policy concerning the ineligibility of good time for persons revoked from supervised release, and that S.B. 713 was silent on the question of parole eligibility. The Complaint asserted that S.B. 713 also had the purported effect of restoring good time that was previously taken from persons revoked from supervised release, such as the Petitioners, but only that which would have been earned up to October 21, 2020. (A.R., at 14-15).

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