#### IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 22-ICA-163

ICA EFiled: Mar 06 2023

10:50AM EST

**Transaction ID 69273909** 

Hank Heckman and Loren Garcia, Plaintiffs below

Petitioners,

v.

Betsy Jividen, Jeff Sandy, and Patrick Morrisey, Defendants below

Respondents.

Appeal from an order of the Circuit Court of Kanawha County (Case Nos. 21-C-903 and 21-C-904)

#### RESPONDENTS BETSY JIVIDEN AND JEFF SANDY'S BRIEF

William E. Murray W. Va. State Bar I.D. 2693 Jaden P. Rhea W. Va. State Bar I.D. 13454

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

oppressive in accordance with *State v. Chase Securities, Inc.*, 188 W. Va. 356, 424 S.E.2d 591 (1992).

Id. at Syl. Pt. 11. See also, Lavender v. W. Va. Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth., 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8162 (S.D. W. Va. Feb. 4, 2008). "In other words, the State, its agencies, officials, and employees are immune for acts or omissions arising out of the exercise of discretion in carrying out their duties, so long as they do not violate any known law or act with malice or bad faith." Syl. Pt. 8, Parkulo v. W.Va. Bd. Of Probation, 199 W. Va. 161, 483 S.E.2d 507 (W. Va. 1996). "In absence of such a showing, both the State and its officials or employees charged with such acts or omissions are immune from liability." Syl. Pt. 11, A. B., 766 S.E.2d 751.

"The doctrine of qualified immunity shields officials from civil liability so long as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known." *Mullenix v. Luna*, 577 U.S. 7, 11 (2015) (internal quotations omitted). "A clearly established right is one that is sufficiently clear that every reasonable official would have understood that what he is doing violates that right." *Id.* (quoting *Reichle v. Howards*, 566 U.S. 658, 664 (2012)). The precedent must be clear enough that every reasonable official would interpret it to establish the particular rule the plaintiff seeks to apply. Otherwise, the rule is not one that "every reasonable official" would know. *District of Columbia v. Wesby*, 138 S. Ct. 589-590 (2018) (quoting *Ashcroft v. al-Kidd*, 563 U.S. 731, 741 (2011)). The "clearly established" standard also requires that the legal principle clearly prohibit the officer's conduct in the particular circumstances before him. The rule's contours must be so well defined that it is "clear to a reasonable officer that his conduct was unlawful in the situation he confronted." *Saucier v. Katz*, 533 U.S. 194, 202 (2001).

"We do not require a case directly on point, but existing precedent must have placed the statutory or constitutional question beyond debate." *Ashcroft*, 563 U.S. at 741. In fact, qualified

immunity protects "all but the plainly incompetent or those who knowingly violate the law." *Malley v. Briggs*, 475 U.S. 335, 341 (1986). Further, the United States Supreme Court has "repeatedly told courts . . . not to define clearly established law at a high level of generality." *Ashcroft*, 563 U.S. at 742. "The dispositive question is whether the violative nature of particular conduct is clearly established." *Mullenix*, 577 U.S. at 12. This inquiry "must be undertaken in light of the specific context of the case, not as a broad general proposition." *Brosseau v. Haugen*, 543 U.S. 194, 198 (2004) (per curiam) (quoting *Saucier*, 533 U.S. at 201).

Here, this Court must determine whether it was beyond debate in December of 2020 that Respondents were violating the rights of Petitioners when Jividen issued a warrant for the arrest of both Petitioners after the WVDCR changed its good time eligibility policy. In this case, the WVDCR created a new internal policy directive that established that sexual offenders and child abuse and neglect offenders were not eligible for parole or good time for the period of incarceration imposed for the revocation of supervised release. In December of 2020, the WVDCR issued warrants for the arrest of Petitioners, who were both on parole at the time, because their release violated this new WVDCR policy. The West Virginia Supreme Court's opinion in *Phalen* addresses this exact issue, and it was entered on June 16, 2021. Further, Garcia was re–released on parole on April 13, 2021, prior to this decision, and Heckman was re–released on parole on June 24, 2021, as a result of the *Phalen* decision. (App. 15–17.)

Petitioners argue that the decision to re–incarcerate them under these circumstances violated clearly established law because every reasonable official would have known that Petitioners' re–incarceration was unlawful at the time it occurred. However, none of the cases relied on by Petitioners placed this "statutory or constitutional question beyond debate" prior to *Phalen*, and the question at issue in this case falls far short of that threshold. *Mullenix*, 577 U.S.

at 12. In fact, the clearly confusing nature of this issue and the *Phalen* decision itself makes it obvious that this question was not beyond debate before the West Virginia Supreme Court entered its decision in *Phalen*.

*Phalen* was not a unanimous decision, and Justice Armstead, joined by Justice Jenkins, entered a lengthy dissent where he argued the following:

based upon my review of applicable law and the policies promulgated by the West Virginia Division of Corrections and Rehabilitation (DCR), I do not believe that inmates, such as Petitioner, who are incarcerated for violating the conditions of their extended supervised release, are eligible for parole nor are they entitled to receive commutation from their sentences for good time served.

*Phalen*, 858 S.E.2d at 947. The dissent undertook a lengthy legislative history analysis and concluded that "I do not think the question of *ex post* facto application is as clear-cut as the majority has determined." *Id.* at 951. Finally, the dissent concluded as follows:

As stated above, I believe a person incarcerated for violating conditions of his or her supervised release is no longer serving the original sentence but is instead being sanctioned for failing to comply with the court-ordered conditions of supervised release. Therefore, neither the parole statute, nor the good time statute as it existed prior to 2021, permit Petitioner to receive good time served or to be eligible for parole during his period of incarceration for violating his supervised release or extended supervised release. Following the passage of S.B. 713, it is clear that good time reductions are inapplicable to Petitioner because his extended supervised release was imposed pursuant to W. Va. Code § 62-12-26, and the version of W. Va. Code § 15A-4-17 adopted during the 2021 Legislative Session expressly prohibits such application. The Constitutional protections against ex post facto application is not implicated where, under a proper reading of both the pre-2021 good time served statute and the revised version, Petitioner was not eligible to avail himself of the parole or good time provisions in our law. Indeed, far from violating Petitioner's rights, the Legislature acted with compassion when it allowed Petitioner to benefit from DCR's mistaken allocation of good time as of October 21, 2020. W. Va. Code § 15A-4-17(a).

*Id.* at 952. Obviously, this issue was not clearly established prior to *Phalen* because the dissenting Justices, who were faced with this exact issue, disagreed with the majority's rulings and supported Respondents' actions and argued that they were lawful. Further, Respondent Patrick Morrisey and

the West Virginia Attorney General's Office also believed Respondents' actions were lawful and their arguments in *Phalen* support this position. Justice Armstead, Justice Jenkins, Respondent Morrisey and the attorneys at the West Virginia Attorney General's Office, and Respondents Jividen and Sandy clearly believed that Respondents' action were lawful in December of 2020 which shows that the rule was not one that "every reasonable official" would know. *Wesby*, 138 S. Ct. at 590. Qualified immunity exists for the very purpose of protecting Respondents' decision—making in circumstances just like this.

Further, Petitioners' arguments here only support the circuit court's conclusion that this was not a clearly established law in December of 2020 because their entire argument is based and modeled on the decision in *Phalen*. Petitioners copy the West Virginia Supreme Court's analysis in that case exactly and then argue that the holding in *Phalen* was so clear prior to that decision that every reasonable official would have interpreted the law to forbid the re–incarceration of Petitioners under these circumstances. This is inherently contradictory. It is obviously easy to read the decision in *Phalen* now with the benefit of hindsight, follow its analysis, and then argue that it should have been apparent well before that these principles of law are clear. This argument ignores the dissenting Justices opinion, and the significance of their arguments, and similarly ignores the fact that *Phalen* created a brand new syllabus point which articulated the principle of law Petitioners now argue was so clear prior to the decision. *See* Syl. Pt. 8, *Phalen*, 858 S.E.2d 936.

Moreover, this is exactly the type of argument that is forbidden when determining if a law is "clearly established." As the United States Supreme Court has held in *Ashcroft v. al-Kidd*, a court cannot determine that a law is clearly established through a few opinions that may suggest the conduct is unlawful. "[A]bsent controlling authority," there must be "a robust 'consensus of

cases of persuasive authority." *Ashcroft*, 563 U.S. at 742 (quoting *Wilson* v. *Layne*, 526 U.S. 603, 617 (1999)). The Supreme Court in *Ashcroft* also disregarded the exact type of broad historical and purpose based arguments that Petitioners attempt to make here. *Id.* Petitioners argue here there are decades of precedent relating to *ex post facto* laws and alterations to parole eligibility to good time award calculations. Petitioners even attempt to argue that the issue here was clearly established in 1798 when the United States Supreme Court first discussed the issue of *ex post facto* laws. However, the United States Supreme Court has "repeatedly told courts . . . not to define clearly established law at a high level of generality" which is exactly what Petitioners do here. *Id.* 

While the *ex post facto* principles of the United States and West Virginia Constitutions have undoubtedly been established for a long time, this fact alone does not make a law "clearly established." This is the exact type of "high level of generality" that the United States Supreme Court cautioned about in *Ashcroft*. *Id.* at 742. Further, the Supreme Court "do[es] not require a case directly on point, but existing precedent must have placed the statutory or constitutional question beyond debate." *Id.* at 741. The Petitioners here do exactly what the lower courts were criticized for in *Ashcroft*, they "cherry-picked the aspects of [the decision in *Phalen*] that gave colorable support to the proposition that the unconstitutionality of the action here was clearly established." *Id.* at 743. This type of argument has already been forbidden by *Ashcroft*.

In addition, to the extent Petitioners attempt to argue that West Virginia State agencies or Jividen or Sandy should have been subjectively aware of the unconstitutionality of their alleged actions, this argument also fails. "To be clearly established, the right violated must be sufficiently clear that a reasonable official would understand that what he is doing violates that right." *Dean v. McKinney*, 976 F.3d 407, 417 (4th Cir. 2020) (quoting *Owens ex rel. Owens v. Lott*, 372 F.3d 267, 279 (4th Cir. 2004)). "This determination is an objective one, dependent not on the subjective

beliefs of the particular officer at the scene, but instead on what a hypothetical, reasonable officer would have thought in those circumstances." *Id.* (internal quotations omitted). Thus, the actual knowledge of either Respondent is irrelevant to this analysis because this determination is based on an objective, not subjective, standard.

Further, "[q]ualified immunity gives government officials breathing room to make reasonable but mistaken judgments about open legal questions. When properly applied, it protects all but the plainly incompetent or those who knowingly violate the law." *Id.* Respondents deserve qualified immunity despite the fact that their actions were ultimately determine in *Phalen* to violate the *ex post facto* clause. Further, Justices Armstead and Jenkins entered a Dissent in *Phalen* where they engaged in a lengthy analysis and argued that they believed that Respondents actions were lawful and did not violate any constitutional principles. If the Justices of the West Virginia Supreme Court can disagree on the constitutionality of the exact question faced by this Court here, it is unfair to subject Respondents to money damages for picking the losing side in this controversy. *See Wilson*, 526 U.S. at 618. Qualified immunity exists to shield state actors from liability for this very purpose. Accordingly, the circuit court did not err when it found that the law was not clearly established in December of 2020 when Petitioners were re–incarcerated, and Respondents are entitled to qualified immunity for the entirety of Petitioners' claims.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR II: The circuit court did not grant Respondents statutory immunity from Petitioners' federal causes of action under W. Va. Code § 15A-4-17(p) and instead granted Respondents qualified immunity.

Next, Petitioners argue that the circuit court erred because it granted Respondents absolute immunity under W. Va. Code § 15A–4–17(p) on the following federal causes of action alleged by Petitioner: Count VIII for violations of the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution; Count IX for violations of the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution against Jividen

only; and Count X for violations of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution against Jividen only and a second Count X for violations of the ex post facto clause against Jividen only. However, this is a clear misinterpretation of Respondents' arguments and the circuit court's ruling. The circuit court did not grant Respondents immunity under this statute and instead granted them qualified immunity on these claims because the conduct challenged here clearly stems from administrative policy—making. In fact, as Petitioners state in their brief, counsel for these Respondents agreed with counsel for Petitioner and stated at oral argument that W. Va. Code § 15A–4–17(p) cannot be used to eliminate the federal causes of action. (App. 220.)

In its Order entered on September 13, 2022, the circuit court held the following:

39. Defendants are entitled to qualified immunity from Plaintiffs' constitutional claims.

. . .

- 47. Plaintiffs' Complaint alleges Jividen and Sandy were the decision makers behind the West Virginia Department of Corrections' policy directive which make persons who had their supervised release revoked ineligible for both parole and good time and that Jividen ordered Plaintiffs' re-incarceration after this policy was implemented.
- 48. This conduct clearly stems from administrative policy-making, and these Defendants are absolutely immune. *See Parkulo v. W. Va. Bd. of Prob. & Parole*, 483 S.E.2d 507, 510 (W. Va. 1996).
- 49. Plaintiffs have failed to show that these Defendants engaged in any conduct beyond administrative policy-making which would subject them to liability.

(App. 189–191.) These rulings clearly show that Respondents were granted qualified immunity on Petitioners' United States Constitutional claims. Further, counsel for Respondents clearly acknowledged at oral argument that they were not seeking immunity under W. Va. Code § 15A–4–17(p) on Petitioners' United States Constitutional claims. Accordingly, the circuit court did not

err on this ground because it never made this finding, and this argument is a clear misinterpretation of its ruling.

III. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR III: West Virginia Code Section 15A-4-17(p) does not violate the principles of Article III, Section 17 of the West Virginia Constitution because it eliminates or curtails a clear social and/or economic problem.

Next, Petitioners argue that W. Va. Code § 15A-4-17(p) violates the right of access to the courts as guaranteed by Article III, Section 17 of the West Virginia Constitution, and that this statute is unconstitutional. However, even if this statute violates Article III, Section 17, which it does not, the circuit court also found that Respondents were entitled to qualified immunity for all of Petitioners claims. As a result, even if this Court were to find that this statute is unconstitutional, the circuit court's order must still be upheld because dismissal of this action is supported by the finding of qualified immunity and this assignment of error is moot.

#### W. Va. Code § 15A-4-17(p) states:

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